IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA OTAPR 30 PM 4: 24 2 3 No. 36752 ZANE MICHAEL FLOYD, 4 Appellant, FILED 5 vs. 6 THE STATE OF NEVADA, MAY 22 2001 7 Respondent. CLERK OF SUPREME COU 8 CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 9 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF (Appeal from Judgment of Conviction) 10 STEWART L. BELL 11 MORGAN D. HARRIS CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 200 South Third Street 12 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4711 (702) 455-4685 FRANKIE SUE DEL PAPA 14 Attorney for Appellant Attorney General Nevada Bar No. 000192 15 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 16 (775) 684-1265 17 Counsel for Responden

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

5

25

26

This is an appeal from the judgment of conviction filed 6 September 5, 2000, wherein Appellant was adjudged guilty of Count I: 7 burglary while in possession of a firearm; Counts II - V: murder of 8 the first degree with use of a deadly weapon; Count VI: attempt 9 murder with use of a deadly weapon; Count VII: first degree 10 kidnaping with use of a deadly weapon; and Counts VIII - XI: sexual 11 assault with use of a deadly weapon; and sentenced to serve the 12 following sentences: Count I: a maximum term of one hundred eighty 13 (180) months in the Nevada Department of Prisons with a minimum 14 parole eligibility of seventy-two (72) months; Counts II - V: death 15 by lethal injection; Count VI: two consecutive maximum terms of two-16 hundred forty (240) months with minimum parole eligibility of 17 ninety-six (96) months, consecutive to Count I; Count VII: two 18 consecutive terms of life imprisonment with a minimum parole 19 eligibility of sixty (60) months, consecutive to Count VI; Counts 20 VIII - XI: as to each count, two consecutive terms of life 21 imprisonment with a minimum parole eligibility of one hundred twenty 22 (120) months, Count VIII to be served consecutive to Count VII, and 23 the remaining counts to be served consecutive to each other (ROA, 24 vol. 14, pp. 2732-35).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant, Zane Michael Floyd, was charged by Information 27 and two subsequent amendments thereto, by Stewart L. Bell, District 28 Attorney, Clark County, Nevada with the following crimes: Count I:

l burglary while in possession of a firearm; Counts II - V: murder 2 with use of a deadly weapon; Count VI: attempt murder with use of a 3 deadly weapon; Count VII: first degree kidnaping with use of a 4 deadly weapon; and Counts VIII - XI: sexual assault with use of a 5 deadly weapon (ROA, vol. 1, pp. 1-6; vol. 4, pp. 842-47; vol. 5, pp. $6 \parallel 910-13$). On July 11, 2000, Appellant's jury trial began before the 7 Honorable Jeffrey D. Sobel, District Judge in the Eighth Judicial 8 District Court of the State of Nevada. As a result of that trial, 9 Defendant was found guilty and sentenced as set forth above.

This case centers around the June 3, 1999 multiple 11 shooting incident at an Albertson's supermarket in Las Vegas, and 12 the sexual assault upon an escort service employee earlier that same 13 day. The evidence adduced at trial was as follows:

10

14

Ricky Workman, criminalistics bureau supervisor for the 15 Henderson Police Department, testified that he responded to the 16 Albertson's scene on June 3rd (ROA, vol. 8, p. 1407). Upon entering 17 the store, he observed Thomas Darnell lying face down with a shotgun 18 wound to the back. There was a multi-colored robe on the floor near 19 the entrance. Farther to the north, Chuck Leos was lying face up in 20 the center of an aisle, with two separate wounds. An expended 21 shotgun shell was recovered from that area. Moving even further to 22 the north, Workman observed Dennis Sargent lying on his side, with 23 an expended 12-gauge shotgun shell near his feet. Sargent had 24 sustained a shotgun wound to the center of the chest (ROA, vol. 8, 25 pp. 1412 & 1414). In the party tray preparation area, victim Luci 26 Tarantino was located on the floor (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1416-17). In 27 all, eighteen shotgun rounds or casings were recovered. This left 28 one expended shotgun shell that could not be accounted for (ROA, l |vol. 8, pp. 1420-22). Of these, Workman recovered eight expended | 2 shell casings and removed seven live rounds from the shotgun (ROA, 3 vol. 8, p. 1409).

4

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Detective David Mesinar of the Las Vegas Metropolitan 5 Police Department testified that a "multiplex" videotape was 6 recovered from the store's surveillance system, containing images 7 recorded from seven cameras placed throughout the store (ROA, vol. 8 8, p. 1428). A review of this tape showed that five minutes passed 9 between Defendant's entry and ultimate exit from the grocery store. 10 The video recording included images of one of the employees being 11 shot, of Defendant reaching into his pocket and apparently 12 reloading the shotgun, and of Floyd leaving the store just prior to 13 surrendering to officers (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1432-33 & 1447). Other 14 than the five shooting victims, there were at least twenty-four 15 other people present in the store at the time of the incident. 16 Describing the location of these individuals, the witness testified:

> Seven of them were able to run out of the One was, I believe her name is Ms. Goldsworthy was up on the office making the 911 call; two were hiding in a semi-trailer that was parked backed up to the loading dock at the back of the store and milk delivery vehicle.

> One was hiding in the dairy cooler; two were hiding in a bakery freezer, a bakery cooler; five were in a produce cooler; four were in an air-conditioning compressor room upstairs above the grocery freezer, and there were two hiding in the beer cooler. (ROA, vol. 8, p. 1435).

Christine Goldsworthy, the store bookkeeper, testified 25 that she was in the upstairs portion of the store when she heard a 26 loud bang which scared her. Looking down onto the sales floor 27 through the window, she saw two customers running, and then saw 28 Defendant Floyd running through checkstand seven and aisle seven

I firing the shotgun. He was dressed in black pants, an army fatigue 2 jacket and was bald. She ran into the manager's office and called $3 \parallel 911$. Ms. Goldsworthy also testified to having identified Defendant $4 \parallel \text{in a line-up (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1455-57)}$.

Police dispatcher Samantha Cooper testified that the first 6 911 call on the shootings was received at 5:16 a.m. and that Zane 7 Floyd was taken into custody at 5:30 a.m. (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1759-8 (60).

5

13

14

15

16

17

19

26

Produce manager Steven Johnson was one of those who hid in 10 the produce cooler after hearing what he concluded were several 11 qunshots. He testified that while in the cooler, he heard the 12 following:

> Then seconds after I ducked down behind [milk crates] I heard a gentleman say something like how are you, or what's going on this morning, or something like that, something very cordial. And then I heard a women's voice, which at that time at that moment I realized Luci was still back here, Luci Tarantino, and then a gun fired, just seconds later, not even that. (ROA, vol. 8, p. 1465).

18 Johnson never saw the shooter (ROA, vol. 8, p. 1468).

Mark Schmitt, the store meat manager, testified that he $20\,$ and three others hid in the air conditioning compressor room after 21 having been alerted by a customer. He was the last of the four to 22 climb up into the compressor room, and as he did so he saw the 23 gunman walking by below. He later identified the man in a lineup, 24 and made an in-court identification of Defendant as the person he 25 had picked out of the lineup (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1482-83).

Linda Torres, the bakery manager, hid in the bakery cooler 27 after hearing several bangs. She saw a bald white male, wearing a

l camouflage jacket and carrying a shotgun, chase another man. 2 did not see the gunman's face (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1494, 1496 & 1499). Kelly Pearce, a clerk at the service deli, identified

4 Defendant as the person wearing the camouflage jacket, explaining

that she had seen him twice - once when he came through the

checkstands and a second time in the produce department (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1505, 1507 & 1511).

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

23

Twenty-two year old Zachary Emenegger testified that at 9 approximately 5:15 a.m., he was stocking shelves on the sales floor 10 when he started hearing quishots. As he moved, he saw Chuck Leos 11 lying on the ground (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1525-27). Recounting what 12 happened thereafter, the witness explained:

> I see Zane, he comes after me with a shotgun, sort of chasing me. Right here he takes a shot and I duck and it goes ever my head. He chases me around the table, and I'm scrambling. Immediately I get shot right here.

> It hit me under my arm in my back. stands over me and takes another shot.

That shot hit me in the forearm.

After that second shot he leaned over me and says, "yeah, you're dead." And then I heard him move away. (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1529-30).

21 Emmenegger identified Defendant as the gunman (ROA, vol. 8, p. 22 (1534).

Officer Andrew Tedesco was the first car on the scene in 24 response to the shots fired dispatch at the grocery store (ROA, vol. 25 9, pp. 1771-73). He testified that Defendant exited the store, ran 26 back inside, and then five to ten seconds later, again exited with 27 the shotgun pointed at his head (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1774-75). 28 saying to shoot him. He put the gun in his mouth. He put it at his

1 head. Officer Mees was talking to him, trying to get him to put the 2 gun down." (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1776). After approximately eight 3 minutes of Mees talking to him, Defendant put the shotgun down and 4 was taken into custody (ROA, yol. 9, pp. 1777-78). Tedesco patted 5 down Defendant and located four unexpended shotgun shells in his 6 pants pocket (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1781). The witness testified that 7 Defendant made the unsolicited remark, "I can't believe I shot those 8 people." (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1782).

Minoru Aoki, a police department criminalist, analyzed a 10 blood sample drawn from Defendant at 8:00 a.m. on June 3rd. 11 blood alcohol level in the sample was 0.09. The witness 12 extrapolated this result to conclude that Floyd's blood alcohol 13 level at 5:15 or 5:30 a.m. would have been .14 (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 14 1538 & 1540). A test for controlled substances yielded negative 15 results (ROA, vol. 8, p. 1543).

16

25

Criminalist Torrey Johnson gave details concerning the 17 various rounds recovered at the shooting scene. The shells included 18 seven fired double aught buck, one number six, four live Federal 19 double aught buck cartridges, two Federal number six live rounds and 20 one Winchester double aught buck cartridge, in addition to the three 21 rounds impounded by Officer Tedesco; for a total of eighteen 22 recovered rounds (ROA, vol. 8, pp. 1586-87). The witness also 23 opined that the shotgun recovered from Defendant fired the cartridge 24 cases gathered at the market (ROA, vol. 8, p. 1598).

Crime scene analyst Larry Morton testified that he went to 26 Defendant's residence at 4101 West Oakey on June 3rd, pursuant to a 27 search warrant (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1606-07). Items seized from the 28 residence included a shotgun stock and receipts from the Olympic Gardens cabaret - a \$15 receipt dated June 2nd at 8:01 p.m. and an 2 \$11 receipt marked June 3rd at 12:04 a.m. Empty beer bottles were 3 observed in the livingroom (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1612 & 1616-17).

Twenty-one year old Tracie Rose Carter testified that on 5 June 3rd she worked as a dancer for an outcall service called "Love 6 Bound". (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1621). In addition to a set fee that went 7 to her employer, she would sometimes receive tips for engaging in 8 sexual activity with customers (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1624). Ms. Carter 9 testified that on June 3rd she arrived at Zane Floyd's residence 10 between 3:00 and 3:30 a.m., having been driven there by a friend. 11 She stayed there for an hour and a half to two hours (ROA, vol. 9, 12 p. 1629). As soon as she walked up to Floyd, he allegedly grabbed 13 her, pushed her into the house, locking the door behind him, and 14 held a 12-gauge shotgun on her. He ordered her to take her clothes 15 off (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1630-32). The witness added that when she 16 asked Defendant why he was doing this, "[h]e tells me it's just his 17 sick little fantasy that I happen to become a part of. He mentions 18 this, numerous things about how he, he, he wants to know what it's 19 like to kill." (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1634). Defendant also stated that 20 he didn't know what was wrong with him, and that it was the military 21 that had made him a killer (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1696-98). The witness 22 further explained that Floyd was angry at the military because he 23 couldn't understand why they let him go (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1699). 24 Subsequently, Ms. Carter removed her clothing in the bedroom (ROA, 9, p. 1638). Defendant had sexual intercourse, 26 intercourse and digitally penetrated her vagina. The couple also 27 engaged in fellatio (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1639-1646). Describing what 28 happened just prior to her release, the witness explained:

At the end he also, . . . he was showing me the bullets he said, you know, like this one has your name on it, you know. If you're lucky, you know, you run, run fast enough or whatnot. He's going to let me go. So, he was saying, this is at the very end. He says he has 19 bullets. He's going to kill the first, whatever people he sees then he, then take his life, (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1649).

2

3

4

5

6

13

17

18

26

Ms. Carter denied that either of them ingested any alcohol $7 \parallel$ or drugs during the time that they were together (ROA, vol. 9, p. $8 \parallel 1676$). However, she did admit that at the time she was into using 9 drugs and had been convicted of a drug offense in Oregon at age 10 eighteen (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1621). She had taken methamphetamine 11 earlier that morning and was still under the influence of the drug 12 while at Defendant's house (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1702).

On cross-examination, the witness acknowledged that in her 14 statement of June 6th, she had made no mention of Defendant saying 15 that he wanted to know what it was like to kill (ROA, vol. 9, pp. The witness made an in-court identification of Defendant (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1725-26).

Linda Ebbert, a registered nurse at University Medical 19 Center, testified that shortly after midnight on June 5th, she 20 performed a sexual assault examination on Tracie Carter, some 42 to $21 \parallel 43$ hours after the alleged assault (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1740-41). 22 Describing Ms. Carter's demeanor, the witness told the jury : "She 23 was very anxious. She appeared frightened. She was a bit 24 uncooperative at times during her examination, and she was also 25 rather hostile." (ROA, vol. 9, p. 1740).

The nurse noted that there was no trauma to the vaginal 27 area or orally, but that there was irritation around the entire 28 sphincter of the rectum, including a slight tearing, which would 1 have been consistent with rectal penetration (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1742- $2\|43$).

3

14

18

Crime scene analyst, Maria Thomas, was present when a 4 second search warrant was served at the Floyd residence on June 5th. 5 At that time, she impounded a shirt and Vaseline bottle located 6 underneath a bed. Videos bearing apparently pornographic titles 7 were also removed from the residence (ROA, vol. 9, pp. 1747-51).

Dr. Gary Telgenhoff, a forensic pathologist and deputy 9 medical examiner for the Clark County Coroner's Office, testified $10\,$ that he performed autopsies on the bodies of Dennis Troy Sergent and 11 Lucille Tarantino. Mr. Sergent died as a result of penetrating 12 gunshot wounds to the chest; and Ms. Tarantino died of a shotgun 13 wound to the head (ROA, vol. 10, pp. 1923, 1927 & 1930).

Dr. Lary Simms performed autopsies on Chuck Leos and 15 Thomas Darnell. Mr. Leos' cause of death was multiple qunshot Mr. Darnell died of a shotgun wound to the back (ROA, vol. 17 10, pp. 1935 & 1937-40).

Officer Christopher Catanese was one of the officers who 19 arrested Defendant and placed him in the back seat of a patrol car. 20 Once so situated, Officer Catanese took a tape recorded statement 21 from Zane Floyd (ROA, vol. 10, pp. 1954-55). The witness noted that 22 Defendant smelled of alcohol, but did not stagger nor slur his 23 speech (ROA, vol. 10, p. 1958). A tape recording of the interview 24 was played for the jury (ROA, vol. 10, p. 1963). 25 examination, the witness acknowledged that Defendant mentioned that 26 he had been drinking Jack Daniels; and stated, "Why did I shoot 27 those people?" "I don't know why." (ROA, vol. 10, pp. 1966-67). 28 times during the interview, Officer Catanese would tell Defendant to 1 | "relax" or "It's all right, Zane." Describing what was going on at these times, the witness recounted:

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

10

12

15

26

He at point was where he was hyperventilating. He was excitable. The adrenalin rush of being in a shooting or a catastrophic incident. He built up and built up and built up and got to a point where he was almost hyperventilating. I needed to calm him I didn't want him to hurt himself or go into a seizure or heart attack. (ROA, vol. 10, p. 1968).

Officer Paul Bigham conducted a seconded recorded interview with Defendant once at the Clark County Detention Center. (ROA, vol. 10, pp. 1974-75). This tape was also played for the jury (ROA, vol. 10, p. 1979).

The jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts, including 13 four counts of first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. A 14 penalty hearing was subsequently convened.

Rene Sanchez, who was employed by Pacific Floral Services 16 and inside the Albertson's store on June 3rd gave penalty hearing 17 testimony that she is affected by the incident every day and that 18 the image never leaves her mind. She said that she had not slept 19 one full night since the day of the shootings, and had been put on 20 antidepressants and high blood pressure medication (ROA, vol. 11, p. 21 (2052). Shari Seech, an Albertson's employee, told the jury that 22 after the incident she couldn't sleep in the dark for a long time, 23 and that she will be at work and just begin crying thinking about it (ROA, vol. 11, p. 2059). A family member of each of the decedents also gave victim-impact testimony at the penalty hearing.

Carolyn Smith, a neighbor of the Floyd family, was called 27 as a defense witness at the penalty hearing. She testified that she 28 had known the Floyd's from the time they first moved to Las Vegas, 1 and lived by them for two or three years (ROA, vol. 11, pp. 2109- $2 \mid 10$). She added, "[m]y daughter is an only child and Zane was like $3 \parallel$ a big brother to her, so they played together sometimes. 4 was older sometimes he would watch her for us." (ROA, vol. 11, p. 5 2112). When asked if Zane had ever exhibited any violence toward 6 her daughter, Mrs. Smith replied, "No, actually just the opposite, 7 he was like just a big teddy bear with her." (ROA, vol. 11, p. 8 (2115).

9

Jorge Abreu, a clinical social worker and psychoanalyst, 10 testified that his employer, Alfonso Associates, had been hired by 11 the defense to conduct a psychosocial evaluation of Defendant Zane 12 Floyd (ROA, vol. 11, p. 2127). He noted that many of the people in 13 | Floyd's family had alcohol and substance abuse problems (ROA, vol. 14 11, p. 2131). His mother, Valerie Floyd used alcohol and marijuana 15 and then moved on to LSD, reporting having done more than a hundred 16 LSD trips. Her drug of choice was basically alcohol (ROA, vol. 11, 17 p. 2134). It was also reported that there were many domestic 18 violence episodes (ROA, vol. 11, p. 2135). Many details were 19 missing from the mother's historical account of her life because by 20 age 22 she had become so depressed that she was admitted to a 21 psychiatric hospital in which electroconvulsive therapy was 22 administered, resulting in the side-effect of a loss of memory (ROA, 23 vol. 11, p. 2139). Michael Floyd married Valerie before Zane's 24 third birthday and had adopted the boy by age four (ROA, vol. 11, p. 25 2142). The witness also mentioned that Zane was held back to repeat 26 the second grade (ROA, vol. 11, p. 2146). By age thirteen, Zane 27 continued having problems with concentration and with doing 28 homework. There was also fighting in the home and domestic violence

1 (ROA, vol. 11, p. 2147). On one particular occasion, Zane witnessed 2 Mike Floyd head-butt the boy's mother. Also, by age thirteen, Zane 3 had seen Mike throw his mother through a wall and threaten to get 4 the shotgun and kill her. This incident resulted in Mike Floyd's 5 arrest (ROA, vol. 11, p. 2150). The witness also reported that by 6 age fifteen Defendant had begun drinking, and that he was using 7 drugs, including methamphetamines, at age sixteen (ROA, vol. 11, p. 8 2151). Additionally, Defendant had been expelled from public school 9 because of suspected drug use and for fighting on a school bus (ROA, 10 vol. 11, p. 2152).

11

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