2		
3	n se an se	EII FN
4		ORIGINAL SEP 28 2001
5	ZANE MICHAEL FLOYD,)	UNIUINAL DEP 20 2001 JANETTE M. BLOOM
6	Appellant,)	BY CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK
7	v.)	CASE NO. 36752
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,)	OI SEP RE
9	Respondent.)	
10		
11		
12	RESPONDENT'S AN	SWERING BRIEF
13	Appeal From Judgm Eighth Judicial District	ent Of Conviction - Court, Clark County
14	8	
15		
16	MORGAN D. HARRIS Clark County Public Defender	STEWART L. BELL Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar No. 000477
17	Clark County Public Defender Nevada Bar No. 001879 309 South Third Street, Suite 226 Post Office Box 552610	Nevada Bar No. 0004// Clark County Court House

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

This is not a case where the court denied the Defendant the right to a
confidential psychiatric examination. Rather, in this case, the court was simply
complying with the reciprocal discovery laws, in order to prohibit trial by ambush.
The court properly ordered the defense to disclose the information in question.
There was no error here.

Lastly, the Defendant contends that, despite the fact that the information had already been disclosed, once the defense un-endorsed Dr. Schmidt as a defense expert, the State should have been precluded from using the information gathered by Dr. Schmidt. While the Defendant cites a number of cases within this section of his brief, the Defendant does not cite a single case to support this novel theory. It should be further noted that the State's expert, Dr. Mortillaro, never relied upon or referred to Dr. Schmidt's report or analysis, but did an independent analysis of the standardized test results. ROA, vol. 14, 2533-68. Nor did Dr. Mortillaro ever mention that the tests were administered by a defense expert. <u>Id.</u> He simply rendered an opinion based upon the standardized test results and an interview with Floyd. ROA, vol. 14, 2536, 2541-43, 2558-61.

The Defendant appears to suggest that the State should be precluded from 8 using the information because it was obtained illegally and/or because it was 9 obtained outside the parameters set up by our constitution. However, this is not the 10 case. As explained above, the information in question was obtained lawfully and in 11 the course of legally mandated discovery. The State did not obtain the information 12 by illicit means, and there was no valid reason to preclude the State from using the 13 information simply because the Defendant subsequently decided not to call the 14 witness. There was no error here, and Defendant's claim to the contrary must be 15 rejected. 16

17

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

- 18
- 19

DENIAL OF DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS DID NOT CONSTITUTE CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR

V

Defendant claims that he should have been Mirandized prior to being
permitted to speak with police officers and that any statements made prior to being
Mirandized should have been suppressed. Additionally, Defendant claims both of
his voluntary statements to police should have been suppressed in their entirety
because the Defendant did not make a knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver of
his right to remain silent.

At 5:40 a.m. on June 3, 1999, the Defendant gave a tape recorded interview
to Officers Christopher Catanese and Andrew Tedesco. ROA, vol. 2, 489-517.
This was twenty-five minutes after the shooting began and shortly after the

Defendant was disarmed by the police after he exited the Albertson's store. The interview occurred while the Defendant was seated in the patrol vehicle with the two officers standing outside the vehicle. ROA, vol. 9, 1782-83.

Officer Catanese is a former Marine and he noticed that the Defendant was 4 5 wearing Marine Corps clothing. In order to create a rapport with the Defendant, Officer Catanese asked some preliminary questions specifically as they relate to the 6 Marine Corps. ROA, vol. 2, 489-90. A minute or so into the conversation about 7 the Marine Corps, Officer Catanese stopped the Defendant and read him his 8 9 Miranda rights. ROA, vol. 2, 490. After the rights were read Officer Catanese asked the Defendant if he understood those rights and the Defendant responded 10 "Yeah." ROA, vol. 2, 491. After acknowledging his rights, Officer Catanese asked 11 him "Do you want to talk about what happened?" ROA, vol. 2, 491. The 12 13 Defendant answered, "I, I know what I did." ROA, vol. 2, 491. Officer Catanese asked, "Okay. Why don't you tell me what you did then?" and from that point forth 14 the interview progressed. ROA, vol. 2, 491-517. 15

The first one and one-half pages of the twenty-eight-page dialogue took place 16 prior to the Defendant being read his Miranda rights. ROA, vol. 2, 489-90. This 17 dialogue between the Defendant and Officer Catanese should not be suppressed 18 since the Officer was not questioning the Defendant about the offense or about any 19 offense. At that point there was no reason for Officer Catanese or any reasonable 20 person to believe the Defendant would incriminate himself. Miranda warnings 21 must be given only during situations where there is "custodial interrogation." 22 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966). Interrogation is defined 23 as questioning and other acts designed to elicit incriminating statements and the 24 statements elicited are in fact incriminating. See Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 25 291, 100 S.Ct. 1682 (1980); Pendleton v. State, 103 Nev. 95, 734 P.2d 693 (1987); 26 United State v. Henley, 984 F.2d 1040 (9th Cir. 1993). 27

28

.

1

2

1	The next issue raised by the Defendant is that, although he stated that he
2	understood his rights and never thereafter invoked his rights, the waiver was not
3	made knowingly and intelligently because he was intoxicated. The State must
4	prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant knowingly and
5	intelligently waived his Fifth Amendment rights. See Falcon v. State, 110 Nev.
6	530, 872 P.2d 772 (1994). This Court in Falcon cited an earlier Nevada Supreme
7	Court decision in Stewart v. State, 92 Nev. 168, 547 P.2d 320 (1976), wherein
8	intoxication was discussed as a factor in the voluntariness of a statement, as well as
9	a waiver of one's Fifth Amendment rights. The court in Stewart stated:
10	Intoxication without more will not preclude the admission of incriminating statements unless it is shown that the defendant was so intoxicated that he was unable to understand the meaning of his
11	intoxicated that he was unable to understand the meaning of his statements.
12	statements.
13	<u>Stewart</u> , 92 Nev. at 170-71.
14	It should be noted that the issue in Stewart was actually voluntariness of the
15	statement as opposed to waiver of a Constitutional right. Nevertheless, the court
16	did address the issue of intoxication upon voluntariness.
17	It is important to note that after the Defendant acknowledged his rights, the
18	Officer followed with a lengthy interview that consumes approximately twenty-
19	eight pages. It is quite apparent that the Defendant was responsive to the questions
20	and clearly understood the questions that were being asked.
21	In order for a confession to be deemed voluntary, it must be the product of a
22	"rational intellect and free will" determined by the totality of the circumstances.
23	Passama v. State, 103 Nev. 212, 213-214, 735 P.2d 934, 940 (1987). If, as a result
24	of intoxication, defendant is not conscious of what he is saying or is unable to
25	understand the meaning of statements made, then the statement is considered
26	involuntary. See State v. Clark, 434 P.2d 636 (Ariz. 1967); State v. Hall, 54 Nev.
27	213, 13 P.2d 24 (1932). Intoxication by drugs or alcohol will not normally render
28	an otherwise voluntary statement involuntary. See, i.e., Pickworth v. State, 95 Nev.

I:\APPELLAT\WPDOCS\SECRETAR\BRIEF\ANSWER\FLOYD-Z.BRF

l

,

547, 598 P.2d 626 (1979) (defendant in light drug withdrawal at the time he gave 1 his statement); Tucker v. State, 92 Nev. 486, 553 P.2d 951 (1976) (defendant under 2 the influence of alcohol with a blood alcohol level of .20% held voluntary); 3 Chambers v. State, 113 Nev. 974, 944 P.2d 805 (1997) (confession held voluntary 4 even though the defendant had a blood alcohol level of .27%, had ingested various 5 illegal controlled substances, and had an open stab wound in his arm.); see also 6 7 Stewart v. State, supra.

8

16

17

18

19

It is important to note that the Defendant's blood was drawn at 8:02 a.m., two and one-half hours after the killings. The result of the test was a .09% blood 9 alcohol level and negative for controlled substances. 10

In Criswell v. State, 86 Nev. 573, 472 P.2d 342 (1970), the Nevada Supreme 11 Court held the defendant's confession to be voluntary and further that Criswell 12 intelligently and competently waived his Constitutional rights in spite of the fact 13 that at the time he gave the incriminating statements that he was suffering from a 14 "schizophrenic reaction, paranoid in type." Again, the Court concluded: 15

> ... such a mental disturbance itself will not necessarily preclude the admissibility of a confession by one afflicted, so long as the defendant is mentally capable of understanding the meaning and consequences of his statements.

Id. at 575-76

The Defendant gave a second voluntary statement to Detective Paul Bigham, 20 after having been transported to the Clark County Detention Center, that was taken 21 within approximately one-half hour of the conclusion of the statement to Officers 22 Catanese and Tedesco. ROA, vol. 2, 518-43. According to the twenty-six-page 23 transcript, it was commenced at 7:00 a.m. and ended at 7:32 a.m. and was taped in 24 the Clark County Detention Center. ROA, vol. 2, 518-43. Detective Bigham used 25 a Miranda rights card, and in the first two pages of the voluntary statement 26 Defendant acknowledged receiving his rights. ROA, vol. 2, 518-20. The 27 28

applicable law pertaining to this statement is as set forth above and the conclusion as to its voluntariness is the same.

Under the aforementioned case law, the Motion to Suppress Defendant's 3 Statements to Officers Catanese, Tedesco and Officer Bigham was properly granted 4 by the district court. Defendant's claim that the court's decision constituted 5 6 constitutional error is without merit.

VI

THERE WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DURING CLOSING RGUMENT

10 Defendant contends that certain statements made by the prosecutors in this case were so egregious that they denied Defendant a fair trial and violated his 11 constitutional right to due process of law. The claim is entirely without merit. 12 The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon the 13 Defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently 14 prejudicial." Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995), 15 citing Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993). This is 16

based on a defendant's right to have a fair trial, not necessarily a perfect one. Ross 17

v. State, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 (1990). The relevant inquiry is 18

whether the prosecutor's statements so contaminated the proceedings with 19

unfairness as to make the result a denial of due process. Darden v. Wainwright, 20

477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986). The Defendant must show that 21

22 the statements violated a clear and unequivocal rule of law, he was denied a

substantial right, and as a result, he was materially prejudiced. Libby, 109 Nev. at 23

911, 859 P.2d at 1054. 24

25

1

2

7

8

9

Defendant first objects to a comment made by the District Attorney in his rebuttal argument in the guilt phase of the trial, in which the District Attorney stated 26 that this crime was "the worst massacre in the history of Las Vegas." Defense 27 counsel did not make a timely and specific objection to this argument when it was 28

1 made. Nor was an objection made after the argument was concluded, but before the jury was sent to deliberate. Only after arguments were finished and the jury had 2 3 already been sent out to deliberate did defense counsel for the first time argue to the court that the comment was objectionable. If defense counsel had made a timely 4 objection and motion to strike, the court could have ruled on the objection, and if it 5 6 found the comment objectionable, admonished the jury to disregard it. In light of 7 Defendant's failure to make a contemporaneous objection, any arguable error is waived. Abrams v. State, 95 Nev. 352, 355, 594 P.2d 1143, 1144 (1979); Stewart 8 v. Warden, 94 Nev. 516, 579 P.2d 1244 (1978). 9

• • • ·

10 The State further submits that this comment is not improper. It is simply an accurate statement of fact known to anyone who has lived in Las Vegas any length 11 of time, and akin to arguing in the Timothy McVeigh case that the Oklahoma 12 bombing was the worst massacre in the history of the State of Oklahoma. The fact 13 14 that four people were killed with a shotgun in a public place and a fifth nearly died was well known throughout this community as this city's worst mass murder. As 15 such, this fact would have been a proper matter for judicial notice. NRS 47.130 16 (the court is permitted to take judicial notice of facts which are "[g]enerally known 17 18 within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court.") Accordingly, it was not error for the District Attorney to make this observation. 19

20 Even if the court believed that the comment in question was somehow improper, Defendant is entitled to no relief. The court offered the defense the 21 22 option of recalling the jury and telling them to disregard the comment, which offer defense counsel declined. Having done so, particularly in light of the failure to 23 interpose a contemporaneous objection, the defense cannot now claim a new trial is 24 25 warranted.

26 Inappropriate prosecutorial comments, standing alone do not warrant reversal of a criminal conviction if the proceedings were otherwise fair. United States v. 27 Young, 470 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 1044 (1985). In order to reverse a 28

I:\APPELLAT\WPDOCS\SECRETAR\BRIEF\ANSWER\FLOYD-Z.BRF

conviction, the errors must be "of constitutional dimension and so egregious that they denied [the defendant] his fundamental right to a fair jury trial." <u>Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 113 Nev. 1008, 1018, 945 P.2d 438, 444 (1997), overruled on other grounds in <u>Byford v. State</u>, 116 Nev.Adv.Op. 23, 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

Here, it is not possible that the comment in question jeopardized the Defendant's right to a fair trial. This comment was made during the rebuttal argument in the guilt phase of a trial at a point in the trial when the defense had already conceded guilt. ROA, vol. 7, 1363; vol. 10, 1912. As early as opening statements, the defense conceded that Floyd was guilty of four counts of firstdegree murder and one count of attempt murder. ROA, vol. 7, 1363. Since the Defendant conceded guilt, there is no possibility that this passing reference affected the jury's verdict on the murder charges. Furthermore, since the comment was not directed toward the sexual assault charges, it could not have affected the jury's fair consideration of those offenses.

Moreover, in assessing whether this one comment could have possibly 15 prejudiced the Defendant during the penalty phase of the trial, the State notes that 16 this comment was made six days before the jury even began penalty phase 17 deliberations and, in the interim, the jury heard compelling, emotional testimony 18 and four subsequent arguments of counsel. It is not reasonable to believe that any 19 comment, made during the guilt phase of the trial, substantially affected the penalty 20 phase verdict. There is no evidence to support Defendant's claim that the 21 prosecutor's comment affected his right to a fair trial. Therefore, the claim must be 22 rejected for lack of merit. 23

Defendant next objects to a comment made by the District Attorney during closing argument in the penalty phase of the trial, in which he stated "If not in this case, what case?" Defendant did not object to the argument at the time it was made and, therefore, the issue is waived. <u>Abrams v. State, supra; Stewart v. Warden</u>,

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

supra. However, even if the court were inclined to address the claim further, the claim would still fail for lack of merit.

The argument in question was simply an argument that the jury should make 3 the punishment fit the crime. ROA, vol. 14, 2570-72. This type of proportionality 4 argument is entirely permissible. Flanagan v. State, 107 Nev. 243, 810 P.2d 759 5 (1991), judgment vacated on other grounds in Moore v. Nevada, 503 U.S. 930, 112 6 S.Ct. 1463 (1992); State v. Witter, 112 Nev. 908, 924, 921 P.2d 886, 897 (1996) 7 (holding that prosecutor's comment that anything less than the death sentence 8 would be disrespectful to the dead and irresponsible to the living was proper 9 argument regarding theories of penology and did not constitute misconduct) 10 (overruled on other grounds in Byford, supra); State v. Mazzan, 105 Nev. 745, 750, 11 783 P.2d 430, 433 (1989) (prosecutor's argument that the jury should make a 12 statement or "set a standard" was not reversible error). As in the above cited cases, 13 there was no error here. Therefore, Defendant's claim must be rejected. 14

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